
 

Full Authority Board Meeting 
Agenda 

 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, March 23, 2022 

Time: 6:45 p.m. 

Location: Microsoft Teams 

 
 
 
1. Roll Call 
 
 
 
 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

A. That the agenda Be Adopted as circulated. 
 
 
 
 
3. Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
 
 
 
 
4. Delegation / Presentation 
 

4.1.   Katie Mahon, Senior Manager, Audit, KPMG LLP 
 

➢ Presentation – 2021 Draft Financial Statement 
 

B. That the audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year 2021 of 
Cataraqui Conservation, as presented by KPMG LLP, Be Approved; 
and, 

 
That the Chair of Cataraqui Conservation, Be Directed, to sign off on 
the aforementioned statements. 
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4.2.   Karen Samis, President, Friend of Lemoine Point 
 

➢ Presentation – Friends of Lemoine Point 
 

C. That Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Receive the 
Presentation from Karen Samis, President of the Friend of Lemoine 
Point. 

 
 

4.3.   Debbi Miller, Community Development Officer Planning & Economic 
Development, County of Frontenac 

 
➢ Presentation – Trail Activation Sign Project - County of Frontenac  

 
D. That Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Receive the 

Presentation by Debbi Miller, Community Development Officer Planning 
& Economic Development, County of Frontenac, on Trail Activation 
Sign Project. 

 
 
 
 
5. Approval of Previous Minutes 
 

5.1.   Minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Meeting of 
February 23, 2022 

 
E. That the minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board 

Meeting of February 23, 2022, Be Approved. 
 

5.2.   Notes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board E-Poll of March 7, 
2022 

 
F. That the Notes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board E-

Poll of March 7, 2022, Be Approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Business Arising 
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7. Items for Consideration 
 
 

7.1.   General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – March 2022 (report IR-043-22) 
 

➢ Verbal Update – Katrina Furlanetto, General Manager 
 

G. That Report IR-043-22, General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – 
March 2022, Be Received. 

 
 

7.2.   Strategic Risk Reporting (report IR-044-22) 
 

➢ Verbal Update – Katrina Furlanetto, General Manager 
 

H. That Report IR-044-22, Strategic Risk Reporting, Be Received; and, 
 

That the Strategic Risk Reporting Framework (Attachment #1), Be 
Approved, for implementation; and, 
 
That staff, Be Directed, to provide the Full Authority Board with a 
Strategic Risk Reporting update bi-annually. 

 
 

7.3.   Advertising Services - Update (report IR-045-22) 
 

I. That Report IR-045-22, Cataraqui Conservation Advertising Services - 
Update, Be Received. 

 
 
 
 
8. Minutes (Friends and Foundation) 
 
 

8.1.   Minutes of Friends of Lemoine Point 
 

• October 8, 2021 
• January 10, 2022 
• February 7, 2022 

 
J. That the Friends of Lemoine Point minutes of October 8, 2021, January 

10, 2022, and February 7, 2022, Be Received. 
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9. Committee Reports 
 

9.1.   Report from Planning and Permitting Ad Hoc Committee Meeting of March 16, 
2022 (report IR-046-22) – To Be Distributed 

 
➢ Verbal Update – Andrew Schmidt, Supervisor, Development Review 

 
K. That report IR-046-22, Report from Planning and Permitting Ad Hoc 

Committee Meeting of March 16, 2022, Be Approved. 
 
 
 
 
10. Announcements or Inquiries / Information 
 

10.1.   Report on Communications (IR-047-22) 
 

L. That report IR-047-22, Report on Communications, Be Received.  
 
 
 
 
11. Motions / Notice of Motion 
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12. In Camera Session 
 

M. That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move In Camera. 
 
 

12.1.   Confidential Report – In Camera Minutes of February 23, 2022 (report IR-
048-21) 

 
 

12.2.   Confidential Report –Personnel Committee of March 15, 2022 (report IR-049-
22) 

 
 

N. That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move out of 
In Camera and report. 

 
 
 
 
13. Return to Open Session 
 

O. That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Approve items 
as discussed at the In Camera session on March 23, 2022. 

 
 
 
 
14. Adjournment 
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The accompanying financial statements of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (the 
"Conservation Authority") are the responsibility of the Conservation Authority's management and have 
been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The significant 

accounting policies are described in summary in Note 1 to the financial statements. The preparation 
of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's judgment, 
particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with 

certainty until future periods.  

The Conservation Authority's management maintains a system of internal controls designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and 

recorded in compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information 
is available on a timely basis for preparation of the financial statements. These systems are 
monitored and evaluated by management.  

The Board of Directors meets with management and the external auditors to review the financial 
statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their 
approval of the financial statements. The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, 

independent external auditors appointed by the Board. The accompanying Independent Auditors’ 
Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the 
Conservation Authority’s financial statements. 

 

 

 

    
Katrina Furlanetto, MEnv.Sc.      Cheryl Rider, CPA, CGA, Dipl. M.A. 
General Manager  Supervisor, Finance 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (the 
"Entity"), which comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021 

• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended 

• the statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its results of 
operations, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  

Other Matter – Comparative Information 

The financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 were audited by 
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on April 28, 
2021. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Kingston, Canada 

March 23, 2022  

11



 

1 

CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  2021 2020 
 

Assets 
 
Financial assets: 

Cash $ 4,021,538 $ 3,499,868 
Cash held for Source Water Protection 45,670 30,390 
Accounts receivable 195,446 72,134 
Harmonized sales tax receivable 29,357 14,386 
  4,292,011 3,616,778 

 
Financial liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 204,872 80,328 
Deferred revenue - other 48,055 29,664 
Deferred revenue (note 11) 932,046 941,414 
Termination and vacation pay 61,015 76,936 
Total liabilities 1,245,988 1,128,342 

 
Net financial assets 3,046,023 2,488,436 
 
Non-financial assets: 

Prepaid expenses 6,149 2,704 
Tangible capital assets (note 2) 10,989,597 11,017,922 
  11,005,746 11,020,626 

 
Commitments (note 13) 

 
Accumulated surplus (note 10) $ 14,041,769 $ 13,509,062 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
____________________  Chairperson  
 
____________________  Chairperson 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  Budget Actual Actual 

 2021 2021 2020 
  (unaudited - 

  note 8) 
 
Revenue: 

Municipal grants $ 2,671,744 $ 2,671,744 $ 2,602,359 
Authority generated (note 3) 2,194,258 1,642,966 1,259,954 
Government transfers: 
 Federal –   11,295 25,000 
 Provincial (note 12) 208,701 224,837 221,867 
Projects –   –   10,000 
Total revenue 5,074,703 4,550,842 4,119,180 

 
Expenses (note 4): 

Corporate services 1,406,400 857,583 852,569   
Watershed planning and engineering 925,685 699,550 730,666 
Conservation areas 542,420 451,254 413,497 
Amortization –   498,670 487,545 
Conservation lands 911,910 593,602 481,526 
Watershed science 319,850 263,893 213,844 
Corporate financing 201,883 269,311 348,738 
Facilities 206,500 123,218 113,922 
Change in termination and vacation pay –   (15,921) (157,419) 
Projects –   95,578 198,196 
General manager’s office 324,600 272,512 268,530 
Fleet 132,125 68,351 71,405 
Water control structures 90,955 42,290 34,267 
Full authority board and executive 12,375 8,244 9,215 
Total expenses 5,074,703 4,228,135 4,066,501 

 
Annual operating surplus –   322,707 52,679 
 
Revenue related to capital: 

Government transfers – Federal –   100,000 –   
Donation –   110,000 –   
Gain on disposal of assets –   –   49,349 
Total revenue related to capital –   210,000 49,349 

 
Annual surplus –   532,707 102,028 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year –   13,509,062 13,407,034 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 10) $ –   $ 14,041,769 $ 13,509,062 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
(In thousands of dollars) 
 
  Budget Actual Actual 

 2021 2021 2020 
  (unaudited - 

  note 8) 
 
Annual surplus $ –   $ 532,707 $  102,028  
 
Purchase of tangible capital assets –   (470,345) (207,176) 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets –   –   (49,349) 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets –   –   69,705 
Amortization of tangible capital assets  –   498,670  487,545 
Change in prepaid expenses –   (3,445) 14,185  
  –   24,880 314,910 
 
Increase in net financial assets –   557,587 416,938 
 
Net financial assets, beginning of year –   2,488,436 2,071,498 
 
Net financial assets, end of year $ –   $ 3,046,023 $ 2,488,436 
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Cash provided by (used for): 
 
Operating activities: 

Annual surplus $ 532,707 $ 102,028 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 498,670 487,545 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets –   (49,349) 

Changes to financial assets and liabilities: 
Claims and other amounts recoverable (138,283) 11,489 
Prepaid expenses (3,445) 14,185 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 124,544 8,434 
Deferred revenue – other 18,391 (20,367) 
Deferred revenue – obligatory reserve (9,368) 112,864 
Termination and vacation pay (15,921) (157,419) 

  1,007,295 509,410 
 
Capital activities: 

Purchase of tangible capital assets (470,345) (207,176) 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets –   69,705 
  (470,345) (137,471) 

 
Increase in cash during the year 536,950 371,939 
 
Cash, beginning of year 3,530,258 3,158,319 
 
Cash, end of year $ 4,067,208 $ 3,530,258 
   

Represented by: 
General $ 4,021,538 $ 3,499,868 
Source Water Protection 45,670 30,390 
 

  $ 4,067,208 $ 3,530,258 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (the “Conservation Authority”) was established under the 
Conservation Authorities Act of Ontario. The objectives of the Conservation Authority as stated in 

Section 20(1) of the Conservation Authorities Act R.S.O. 1990 are “to provide, in the area over which 
it has jurisdiction, programs and services designed to further the conservation, restoration, 
development and management of natural resources, other than gas, oil, coal and minerals”. The 

Conservation Authority is a registered charity within the meaning of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and 
is exempt from income taxes. 

 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The financial statements of the Conservation Authority are prepared by management in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for organizations operating in the local 

government sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by 
the Conservation Authority are as follows: 

(a) Basis of accounting: 

The financial statements of the Conservation Authority have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting, whereby revenues and expenses are reflected in the accounts in the 

year in which they have been earned or incurred respectively.  The financial statements do 
not include the activities of the Cataraqui Conservation Foundation, a related incorporated 
registered charity.  

(b) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 
the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 

not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development and betterment of the asset.  The 
cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
Asset Useful Life - Years 
 
Land improvements 30 years 
Buildings 40 years 
Bridges, dams and docks 10 to 40 years 
Vehicles and machinery 10 to 15 years 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 8 years 
Furniture and fixtures 10 years 
Information technology 5 years 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 

Annual amortization is charged in the first year after acquisition and in the year of 
disposal. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for 
productive use, at which time the costs are transferred to the appropriate asset category. 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. Similarly, transfers of assets to third 

parties are recorded as an expense equal to the net book value of the assets as of the 
date of transfer. 

(iii) Impairment: 

When conditions indicate that a tangible capital asset no longer contributes to the 
Conservation Authority’s ability to provide services or the value of the future economic 
benefits associated with the tangible capital asset are less than its net book value, and 

the decline is expected to be permanent, the cost and accumulated amortization of the 
asset are reduced to reflect the revised estimate of the value of the asset’s remaining 
service potential. The resulting net adjustment is reported as an expense on the 

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. 

(c) Revenue recognition: 

Government transfers and municipal grants and funding for projects are recognized as 

revenue when the transfer is authorized, any eligible criteria has been met and the amount 
can be reasonably estimated. Authority generated funds, generally consisting of user fees, 
are recognized in the period in which the services are performed. Other restricted 

contributions received in advance of the related expenditure are deferred until the related 
expenditure is incurred. 

(d) Deferred revenue: 

The Conservation Authority receives contributions pursuant to legislation, regulations or 
agreement that may only be used for certain programs or in the completion of specific work. 
In addition, certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have 

yet to be performed. 

(e)  Reserves: 

The Conservation Authority receives restricted contributions under the authority of provincial 

legislation and Municipal by-laws.  These funds by their nature are restricted in their use, and 
until applied to applicable expenses, are recorded as deferred revenue. Amounts applied to 
qualifying costs are recorded as revenue in the fiscal period that they are expended. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f)  Amount to be funded in future years: 

The unfunded liability for vacation pay and termination benefits amounting to $61,015 (2020 - 
$76,936) has been reported as a liability and the offsetting unfunded amount as an amount to 
be funded in future years, a component of accumulated surplus. 

(g) Retirement benefits and other employee benefit plans: 

The Conservation Authority is an employer member of the Ontario Municipal Employees 
Retirement System (OMERS), which is a multi-employer, defined benefit pension plan. The 

Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing 
the management of the pension plan, including investment of assets and administration of the 
benefits. The Conservation Authority has adopted defined contribution plan accounting 

principles for this Plan because insufficient information is available to apply defined benefit 
plan accounting principles. The Conservation Authority records as an expense the amount 
paid to OMERS during the year. 

(h) Liability for contaminated sites: 

A contaminated site is a site at which substances occur in concentrations that exceed the 
maximum acceptable amounts under an environmental standard. Sites that are currently in 

productive use are only considered a contaminated site if an unexpected event results in 
contamination. A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when the 
Conservation Authority is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; it is expected that 

future economic benefits will be given up; and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be 
made. The liability incudes all costs directly attributable to remediation activities including 
post remediation operations, maintenance and monitoring. The liability is recorded net of any 

expected recoveries. 

(i) Government transfers: 

Government transfers are recognized as revenue or expenditures in the year that the events 

giving rise to the transfer occurred, provided the transfer is authorized, eligibility criteria, if 
any, have been met by the recipient, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

(j) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and  
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

2. Tangible capital assets: 
 
 Balance at Transfers Transfers, Balance at 
 December 31, and disposals and December 31,  
Cost  2020 additions adjustments 2021 
  
Land $ 7,266,144 $ –   $ –   $ 7,266,144 
Land improvements 11,376,896 259,405 –   11,636,301 
Buildings 1,493,651 7,867 –   1,501,518 
Bridges, dams and docks 2,269,588 92,657 –   2,362,245 
Vehicles and machinery 657,726 –   –   657,726 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 244,230 –   –   244,230 
Furniture and fixtures 601,412 48,574 –   649,986 
Information technology 300,119 17,044 –   317,163 
Work-in-progress –   44,798 –   44,798 
 
Total $ 24,209,766 $ 470,345 $ –   $ 24,680,111 

 

 
 Balance at  Transfers, Balance at 
Accumulated December 31, Amortization disposals and December 31,  
amortization  2020 expense adjustments 2021 
 
Land improvements $ 8,796,157 $ 336,207 $ –   $ 9,132,364 
Buildings 1,044,041 27,903 –   1,071,944 
Bridges, dams and docks 2,086,688 26,064 –   2,112,752 
Vehicles and machinery 307,835 48,316 –   356,151 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 194,324 11,607 –   205,931 
Furniture and fixtures 476,173 38,255 –   514,428 
Information technology 286,626 10,318 –   296,944 
 
Total $ 13,191,844 $ 498,670 $ –   $ 13,690,514 

 
 

 Net book value Net book value 
 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021 
 

Land $ 7,266,144 $ 7,266,144 
Land improvements 2,580,739 2,503,937 
Buildings 449,610 429,574 
Bridges, dams and docks 182,900 249,493 
Vehicles and machinery 349,891 301,575 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 49,906 38,299 
Furniture and fixtures 125,239 135,558 
Information technology 13,493 20,219 
Work-in-progress –   44,798 
 

Total $ 11,017,922 $ 10,989,597 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

3. Authority generated revenues: 

A breakdown of authority generated revenues is as follows: 
 

  2021 2020 
 

Planning and development review $ 428,739 $ 319,684 
Equipment and vehicle rental recoveries 383,371 346,914 
Trees program 350,670 298,400 
Other 167,442 30,130 
Outdoor centre 166,726 169,329 
Donations –   20,130 
Conservation area revenue 98,072 74,411 
Student program fees 34,091 17,203 
Facility rentals 13,855 13,883 
 

  $ 1,642,966 $ 1,259,954 
 

4. Expenses by object: 

A breakdown of expenses by object is as follows: 
 

  2021 2020 
 
Wages and benefits $ 2,204,957 $ 2,138,930 
Materials and supplies 669,808 786,615 
Amortization 498,670 487,545 
Purchased services 413,947 374,099 
Insurance, heat and utilities 227,429 191,878 
Change in termination and vacation pay (15,921) (157,419) 
Travel and vehicle 119,806 109,548 
Computer supplies and IT support 64,244 50,195 
Property taxes 38,331 39,212 
Other 6,864 45,898 
 

  $ 4,228,135 $ 4,066,501 
   

5. Pension agreement: 

The Conservation Authority ’s employees are members of the Ontario Municipal Employees 

Retirement Fund (“OMERS”), which is a multi-employer pension plan. The plan is a defined 
benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employee 
based on length of service and rates of pay. Because OMERS is a multi-employer pension plan, 

the Conservation Authority does not recognize any share of the pension plan deficit of $3.2 billion 
(at December 31, 2020) based on the fair market value of the plan’s assets, as this is a joint 
responsibility of Ontario Municipal organizations and their employees. Ongoing adequacy of the 

current contribution rates will need to be monitored and may lead to increased future funding 
measurements. The amount contributed to OMERS for 2021 was $155,737 (2020 - $163,250) for 
current service and is included as an expense in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated 

Surplus. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

6. Cataraqui Conservation Foundation: 

Contributions were received during the year from the Cataraqui Conservation Foundation in the 
amount of $20,000 (2020 - $6,000) of which $15,000 has been spent and $5,000 has been 

moved to a reserve for future educational expenses. 

 

7.  Bank credit facility: 

The Conservation Authority has an approved bank credit facility with its lender in the amount of 
$750,000, of which none had been drawn as at December 31, 2021 (2020 – undrawn). 

 

8.  Budget figures: 

The budget data presented in these financial statements is based upon the 2021 operating and 
projects budgets approved by the board. These amounts are unaudited. The Conservation 

Authority only prepares a budget for the Statement of Operations, the budget figures in the 
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets has not been provided. 

 

9. Segmented information: 

The following is a breakdown of revenues and expenses by segment: 
 
  2021 2020 
  Revenue Expenses Net Net 
 
Watershed $ 1,407,486 $ 1,008,808 $ 398,678 $ 334,848 
Conservation lands 1,663,351 1,611,070 52,281 (86,220) 
Fleet 147,104 68,351 78,753 111,063 
General manager’s office &  

FA Board 242,945 284,056 (41,111) (19,795) 
Corporate services 1,015,893 894,261 121,632  89,510 
Corporate financing 284,063 266,011 18,052  (139,183) 
Projects –   95,578 (95,578) (188,195) 
 
  $ 4,760,842 $ 4,228,135 $ 532,707 $ 102,028 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

10. Accumulated surplus: 

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserves and reserve funds as 
follows: 
 
  2021 2020 
  
Equity in tangible capital assets $ 10,989,597 $ 11,017,922 
Less: Unfunded termination and vacation pay (61,015) (76,936) 
  10,928,582 10,940,986 
 
Corporate Reserves: 

Corporate Financing Reserve  195,689  180,451 
Fleet (Equipment) Reserve 24,432 7,347 
Fleet (Vehicles) Reserve 88,058 50,303 
General Reserve 142,269 137,820 
Data Acquisition Reserve 83,401 93,903 
Information Technology Reserve 83,805 73,897 
Stabilization Reserve 139,504 509,247 
Trust Reserve 342,859 341,663 
Trust Reserve  Mac Johnson Wildlife Area  

Nature Centre Reserve 41,871 41,615 
Total surplus 1,141,888 1,436,246 

 
Conservation Lands Reserves: 

Boat Ramp and Water Access Point Reserve 7,945 7,227 
Cataraqui Trail Reserve 64,642 37,913 
Friends of the Cataraqui Trail 16,416 16,359 
Conservation Areas Reserve 88,953 77,762 
Facilities Reserve 1,358,282 566,295 
Real Property Reserve 264,931 281,944 
  1,801,169 987,500 

 
Watershed Management Reserves: 

Forestry Reserve 105,918 86,130 
Watershed Management Reserve 64,212 58,200 
  170,130 144,330 

 
Total reserves 3,113,187 2,568,076 

 
Total accumulated surplus $ 14,041,769 $ 13,509,062 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

11. Deferred revenue: 
 
  Balance,    Balance 

  December 31,  Transferred Interest December 31, 
  2020 Additions to income earned 2021 

 
Externally restricted: 

Conservation Lands Reserves: 
Development Review Legal Funds $ 36,530 $ –   $ –   $ 128 $ 36,658 
Boat Ramp and Water Access Point -  

Reserve Leeds and the Thousand Islands 5,103 2,500 –   27 7,630 
Cataraqui Trail Reserve -Crabtree & Rideau  

Lakes Donation 32,116 40,391 (18,065) 163 54,605 
Lemoine Point Conservation Area Reserve 292,090 27,970 (12,971) 1,092 308,181 
Lemoine Point Native Plant Nursery Reserve 35,106 13,259 –   127 48,492 
Lemoine Point Workshop Reserve 22,725 5,210 (9,466) 88 18,557 
Parrott’s Bay Conservation Area Reserve 134,327 22,586 –   526 157,439 
Owl Woods Reserve 7,799 1,044 –   29 8,872 

  565,796 112,960 (40,502) 2,180 640,434 
 

Water Control Structure Reserves: 
Sydenham Lake Dam Reserve  99,225  5,013  (50,490)  199  53,947 
Wilton Road Dam Reserve  15,642  8,388  (9,768)  63  14,325 
Highgate Creek Channelization Reserve  44,044  1,937  (2,104)  152  44,029 
Little Cataraqui Creek Dam Reserve  32,380  8,298  (2,104)  130  38,704 
Temperance Lake Dam Reserve  36,453  17,318  (25,691)  125  28,205 
Marsh Bridge Dam Reserve  28,424  16,877  (30,226)  59  15,134 
Fred Grant Dam Reserve  25,169  4,372  (2,104)  96  27,533 
Broome-Runciman Dam Reserve  67,412  7,776  (26,459)  172  48,901 
Buells Creek Detention Basin Reserve  15,871  6,981  (13,196)  58  9,714 
Booths Falls Diversion Reserve  10,998  2,186  (2,104)  40  11,120 

  375,618 79,146 (164,246) 1,094 11,120 
 

Total $ 941,414 192,106 $ (204,748) $ 3,274 $ 932,046 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

12. Provincial government transfers: 

The following is a breakdown of provincial government transfers: 
 

  2021 2020 
 
Section 39 – flood control $ 56,701 $ 56,701 
Source water protections 156,481 110,816 
Dam maintenance and other 11,655 54,350 
 
  $ 224,837 $ 221,867 
 

13.  Commitments: 

(a) The Conservation Authority entered into a shared services agreement with the Corporation of 

the County of Frontenac (the “County”) for the provision for information services. Under the 
arrangement, the Conservation Authority will become a full participant in the Frontenac 
Municipal Information System (“F.M.I.S”) with the four organizations already party to the 

system. The F.M.I.S provides strategic planning, project management, help desk support, 
network administration and procurement services to the participating organizations. The 
Conservation Authority will be responsible for annual contributions to F.M.I.S equal to 

$109,000 for the first year of participation, declining to a contribution of $90,000 in the fifth 
year of participation. These costs are in consideration of salaries, training and mileage for 
staff resources. In addition to this contribution, the Conservation Authority will be responsible 

for one third of the cost of hardware and software required to support one staff position at 
F.M.I.S. Amounts owing under the agreement will be billed to the Conservation Authority 
quarterly, with an annual reconciliation of costs incurred and amounts paid by January 31 of 

the following calendar year. The arrangement may be terminated by the Conservation 
Authority with eighteen months’ notice. 

(b) The Conservation Authority has entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with 

the County for the development of a joint administrative building.  This MOU permits the 
Conservation Authority to progress on the design of the facility, drafting of the 
construction/tender documents, generation of cost estimates and the development of a long-

term lease document, but does not bind the Conservation Authority to proceed beyond the 
detailed design phase. It is intended that lease payments under the final lease agreement will 
include pre-construction costs, construction costs, furniture and operating costs associated 

with the facility. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

14. Impact of COVID-19: 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization characterized the outbreak of a strain of the 

novel  coronavirus  (‘COVID-19’)  as  a  pandemic.     This  resulted  in  governments  worldwide, 
including the Canadian, Ontario and municipal governments, enacting emergency measures to 
combat the spread of the virus. 

The pandemic has had operational and financial impacts including additional costs.  Impacts have 
been mitigated by associated funding and other cost saving measures. 

The  Conversation Authority  continues  to  respond  to  the  pandemic  and  plan  for  continued  

operational  and financial impacts during the 2022 fiscal year and beyond. Management has 
assessed the impact of COVID-19 and believes there are no significant financial issues as the 
Conversation Authority has access to sufficient financial resources to sustain operations in the 

coming year. The outcome and time frame to a recovery from the current pandemic is highly 
unpredictable, thus it is not practicable to estimate and disclose its financial effect on future 
operations at this time. 

 

15. Comparative Information: 

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement 

presentation adopted for 2021. 
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Minutes of the Full Authority 
Board Meeting 

 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, February 23, 2022 

Location: Microsoft Teams 

 
Present: Paul McAuley, Loyalist Township, Chair 

Al Barton, Township of Front of Yonge 
David Beatty, City of Brockville 
Al Hanes, Township of Elizabethtown-Kitley 
Matt Harper, Town of Gananoque 
Jim Neill, City of Kingston 
Gordon Ohlke, Township of Leeds and the Thousand Islands 
Gary Oosterhof, City of Kingston 
Lisa Osanic, City of Kingston 
Alan Revill, Township of South Frontenac 
Terry Richardson, Town of Greater Napanee  
Claire Smith, Township of Rideau Lakes, Vice Chair 
Ross Sutherland, Township of South Frontenac 

 
Regrets: Garry Hewett, City of Brockville  

Wayne Hill, City of Kingston 
Nathan Townend, Loyalist Township 

 
Staff 
Present: 

Katrina Furlanetto, General Manager 
Tom Beaubiah, Manager, Conservation Lands 
Donna Campbell, Assistant, Chair & General Manager 
Hailey Esdon, Development Officer 
Shawn Fairbank, Technologist, Water Resources 
Krista Fazackerley, Supervisor, Communication & Education 
Rick Knapton, Coordinator, Forestry 
Steve Knapton, Coordinator, Operations Planning 
Cheryl Rider, Supervisor, Finance 
Andrew Schmidt, Supervisor, Development Review 

 
Delegations: Heather Keeling, Member of Friend of the Cataraqui Trail 

 
In response to recommendations by the Province of Ontario and public health officials 
for mitigating and responding to the Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) meetings are 
not held in-person, therefore, this Full Authority Board Meeting was convened virtually 
via Microsoft Teams. 
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Page 2 of 9  
Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 
The meeting commenced at 6:45 p.m. 
 
 
1.  Roll Call and Introductions 
 

There were thirteen (13) members present. 
 
 
 
 
2.  Adoption of Agenda 
 

Moved By: Matt Harper 
Seconded By: Gordon Ohlke 

 
That the agenda Be Adopted, As Amended. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
3.  Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
 

There was none. 
 
 
 
 
4.  Delegation / Presentation 

 
4.1.   Friends of the Cataraqui Trail 

 
➢ Presentation – Ross Sutherland, Chair, and Heather Keeling, Member of 

Friend of the Cataraqui Trail (Attachment #1) 
 
 

Resolution: 015-22 
Moved By: Alan Revill 
Seconded By: Gary Oosterhof 

 
That Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Receive the 
Presentation from Friends of the Cataraqui Trail presented by Ross 
Sutherland and Heather Keeling. 

Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 
5.  Approval of Previous Minutes 
 
 

5.1.   Minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Annual General 
Meeting of January 26, 2022 

 
Moved By: Al Barton 
Seconded By: Claire Smith 

 
That the minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board 
Annual General Meeting of January 26, 2022, Be Approved. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
6.  Business Arising 
 

There was none. 
 
 
 
 
7.  Items for Consideration 
 

7.1.   Cataraqui Trail Improvements 2021 (report IR-018-22) 
 

➢ Presentation – Steve Knapton, Coordinator, Operations Planning 
(Attachment #2) 

 
Resolution: 016-22 
Moved By: Al Hanes 
Seconded By: Jim Neill 

 
That Report IR-018-22, Cataraqui Trail Improvements 2021, Be Received. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 

7.2.   Cataraqui Conservation Development Review Activity Report – 2021 (report 
IR-019-22) 

 
➢ Presentation – Hailey Esdon, Development Officer (Attachment #3) 

 
Resolution: 017-22 
Moved By: Lisa Osanic 
Seconded By: Terry Richardson 

 
That Report IR-019-22, Cataraqui Conservation Development Review 
Activity Report – 2021, Be Received. 

 
Carried 

 
 

7.3.   Appointment of Stormwater Review Engineering Services (report IR-020-22) 
 

Resolution: 018-22 
Moved By: Ross Sutherland 
Seconded By: David Beatty 

 
That Report IR-020-22, Appointment of Stormwater Review Engineering 
Services, Be Received; and, 
 
That Cataraqui Conservation staff Be Directed to retain the services of 
Jewell Engineering Incorporated for the engineering review of stormwater 
management proposals, effective immediately. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 

7.4.   Capital Variance Report to February 16, 2022 (report IR-021-22) 
 

Resolution: 019-22 
Moved By: Matt Harper 
Seconded By: Gordon Ohlke 

 
That Report IR-021-22, Capital Variance Report to February 16, 2022, Be 
Received; and, 

 
That completed capital projects, as outlined in Attachment #1 Capital 
Variance Report to February 16, 2022, Be Closed; and, 
 
That recommended reserve transfers, as outlined in Attachment #1 Capital 
Variance Report to February 16, 2022, Be Completed; and, 

 
That recommended amendments to detail sheets for projects PR 00182 
LiDAR Topographic Data Acquisition, PR 00299 Cataraqui Trail - Parking 
and Signage Improvements Highway 15/ Indian Lake Road, and PR 00300 
Cataraqui Trail - General Improvements as outlined in this report Be 
Approved; and, 

 
That the 2022-2031 Capital Forecast Be Amended to reflect the update to 
project coding as outlined in this report.   

 
Carried 

 
 

7.5.   2022 Planting Program – Seedling and Tree Planting Contractor Procurement 
(report IR-022-22) 

 
Resolution: 020-22 
Moved By: Alan Revill 
Seconded By: Claire Smith 

 
That Report IR-022-22, 2022 Planting Program – Seedling and Tree 
Planting Contractor Procurement, Be Received; and, 
 
That the procurement of seedling stock from Somerville Nurseries Inc. Be 
Approved; and, 

 
That staff Be Directed to proceed with the procurement of a Tree Planting 
Contractor for the 2022 planting program. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 

7.6.   Programs and Services Inventory under the Conservation Authorities Act – 
Version 1 Final (report IR-023-22) 

 
Resolution: 021-22 
Moved By: Terry Richardson 
Seconded By: Al Barton 

 
That Report IR-023-22, Programs and Services Inventory under the 
Conservation Authorities Act – Version 1 Final, Be Received; and, 
 
That the Programs and Services Inventory – Version 1 Final as seen in 
Attachment #1, Be Approved; and, 

 
That staff Be Directed to circulate the Programs and Services Inventory – 
Version 1 Final to the Minister of Environment, Conservation and Parks, 
participating municipalities, and post on the Cataraqui Conservation 
website for public view. 

 
Carried 

 
 

7.7.   Cataraqui Conservation Comments on the Regulatory and Policy Proposal 
Consultation Guide (Phase 2) under the Conservation Authorities Act 
(Environmental Registry Postings 019-4610) (report IR-024-22) 

 
Resolution: 022-22 
Moved By: Al Hanes 
Seconded By: Gary Oosterhof 

 
That Report IR-024-22, Cataraqui Conservation Comments on the 
Regulatory and Policy Proposal Consultation Guide (Phase 2) under the 
Conservation Authorities Act (Environmental Registry Postings 019-4610), 
Be Received; and, 
 

That staff Be Directed to submit a letter (Attachment #3) outlining 
Cataraqui Conservation’s comments to the Ministry of Environment, 
Conservation and Parks in response to Registry Posting 019-4610: 
Regulatory and policy proposals (Phase 2) under the Conservation 
Authorities Act for submission by February 25, 2022; and, 

 
That copies of the comment letter Be Provided to all municipalities in 
the Cataraqui Region. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 

7.8.   2022-2023 Infrastructure Projects – Wilton Road Dam (report IR-025-22) 
 

Resolution: 023-22 
Moved By: Lisa Osanic 
Seconded By: David Beatty 

 
That Report IR-025-22, 2022-2023 Infrastructure Projects – Wilton Road 
Dam, Be Received. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
8.  Minutes 
 

There were no Friends groups minutes. 
 
 
 
 
9.  Committee Reports 
 

9.1.   Report from Budget Review Committee meeting of February 15, 2022 (report 
IR-026-22) 

 
It was noted that this report included the following items: 

 
1) 2021 Year-End – Recommended Discretionary & Obligatory Reserve 

Transfers 
 

2) Capital Project Change Request - PR 00055 Fleet - Pick Up Truck 
 

3) Proposed 2022 Fee Schedule Revisions - Maple Madness 
 

Resolution: 024-22 
Moved By: Ross Sutherland 
Seconded By: Jim Neill 

 
That report IR-026-22, Report from Budget Review Committee Meeting of 
February 15, 2022, Be Approved. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 
10.  Announcements or Inquiries / Information 
 

10.1.   Report on Communications (IR-027-22) 
 

Resolution: 025-22 
Moved By: Alan Revill 
Seconded By: Matt Harper 

 
That report IR-027-22, Report on Communications, Be Received. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
11.  Motions / Notice of Motion 
 

There were none. 
 
 
 
 
12.  In Camera Session 
 

Resolution: 026-22 
Moved By: Al Hanes 
Seconded By: Claire Smith 

 
That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move In Camera. 

 
Carried 

 
 

12.1.   Confidential Report –Personnel Committee of February 15, 2022 (report IR-
028-22) 

 
 

Resolution: 027-22 
Moved By: Gordon Ohlke 
Seconded By: Al Barton 

 
That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move out of 
In Camera and report. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – Microsoft Teams 
 
 
13.  Return to Open Session 
 

Resolution: 028-22 
Moved By: David Beatty 
Seconded By: Jim Neill 

 
That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Approve items as 
discussed at the In Camera session on February 23, 2022. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
14.  Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourned at 8:01 p.m. on motion by Ross Sutherland, seconded by 
Terry Richardson. 

 
 
 
 
Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc. 
General Manager 

 Paul McAuley, Chair 
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Friends of the 
Cataraqui Trail
Feb. 23, 2022 – Full Authority Board Meeting
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• The Cataraqui Trial is the old Canadian National Rail bed
• 1998 - Purchased by the CRCA
• 104 Kilometres
• Strathcona to Smiths  Falls
• 4 municipalities and three counties

• Video overview 

History

36
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• 2019 The Friends formed to  provide 
volunteer support and to advocate for the 
Trail

• 16 member board, 8 from municipalities 
and snow mobile clubs, 8 from members

• $25 dollars membership, open monthly 
meetings

• 144 members and growing
• Volunteer activities – Heather Keeling

Who are the Friends?
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• Trail Maintenance Days

• Rudolph Run

• Photo Contest

• The Cat Trail Quest

• Ghost Train

• Trail Merchandise

• User Survey 

Volunteer Activities
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 Cataraqui Trail User Survey
 

 How do you use the trail? What
 
improvements are desired?

 
 Help the Friends of the Cataraqui Trail understand the uses 

and needs
 
for the Trail. This information is

 
valuable to us in 

many
 
ways including

 
securing grants to improve the trail.

 
 Have your say. Fill out the short survey at 

Cataraquitrail.ca 
 

User Survey

39



6

• 62% over 51 years, 95% over 31
• In order: Hiking/walking, cycling, skiing, 

snowmobiling, equestrian common uses
• Most use the trail daily or weekly
• Resurfacing, trimming and mowing, 

signage, amenities and maps, most 
requested improvements

• Most not members, possible Friend 
contacts

• The following slides are for you information 
if you prefer this data in more detail and 
chart form.

What Respondents Reported
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Q2: What is your age?
• Answered: 404    
• Skipped: 9
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Q3: How often do you use 
the Cataraqui Trail?

• Answered: 413    
• Skipped: 0
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Q4: How do you use 
the Trail? Select all 
that apply.

• Answered: 413    
• Skipped: 0
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Q5: What part of 
the trail do you feel 
needs the most 
improvement

• Answered: 393    
• Skipped: 20
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Q6: What improvements 
do you feel should be 
made?

• Answered: 408    
• Skipped: 5
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Q7: Are you a member of the Friends of the Cataraqui Trail?
• Answered: 409    
• Skipped: 4
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Thank You
Thank you Krista, Tom, Steve and 
the whole Conservation Authority 
staff for the wonderful support you 
give the trail. 

Questions? 
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Cataraqui Trail – Year 
in Review 2021
February 23, 2022 – Full Authority Board Meeting
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• Operations Staff
• Cole Spence, 

Conservation Operations 

• Brock Sheen, 
Lead Hand, Conservation Operations

• Joey Stephenson, 
Conservation Operations

• Coordinator, Forestry
• Rick Knapton

• Coordinator, Operations Planning
• Steve Knapton

• Manager, Conservation Lands
• Tom Beaubiah

Cataraqui Conservation Team
Tom Beaubiah Rick Knapton Joey Stephenson

Steve Knapton Cole Spence Brock Sheen
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• 104 Km multi use trail connecting 
Strathcona to Smiths Falls

• Crossing through four 
municipalities

• Township of Stone Mills
• South Frontenac Township
• Township of Rideau Lakes
• Township of Smiths Falls

Cataraqui Trail
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• Cataraqui Conservation
• Friends of the Cataraqui Trail
• Local Clubs (cycling, snowmobile)
• Member Municipalities
• Grant Agencies
• Private Donors
• Local Contractors

Partnerships 2021
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• Chaffey’s Locks Bridge Resurface 
• Project was funded through the 

Rural Economic Development 
(RED) Grant

• Bridge decking had reached its 
end of service life and needed 
replacing. Cataraqui 
Conservation staff removed old 
material and secured new 
decking

Highlighted Projects - 2021
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• Cataraqui Trail Surface 
Improvements Rideau Lakes       

• A funding opportunity through the 
Infrastructure Canada Improvement 
Project Grant, facilitated through 
the Township of Rideau Lakes, 
provided the opportunity to 
resurface the trail. Approximately 
8Km was resurfaced through this 
grant.

• The work was completed by G. 
Tackaberry and Sons who also 
made a donation towards the 
completion of the project.

Highlighted Projects - 2021 Cont.

53



7

• Cataraqui Trail surface 
improvements and new parking lot 
at County Road 5

• Through construction compensation 
with the Township of Rideau Lakes 
a local contractor made surface 
improvements to the Cataraqui Trail 
from county Road 5 heading East

• This project included brush 
removal, new material, and a new 
parking lot at County Road 5 
completed by Campbell’s Trucking

Highlighted Projects - 2021 Cont.
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• With the completion of the 
Cataraqui Conservation Signage 
Strategy. Staff were able to begin 
implementation of new signage 
for the Cataraqui Trail with 
funding from a Private Donor.

• New kiosks, identification signs, 
and wayfinding signage was 
installed along the trail with full 
Accessibilities Ontario Disabilities 
Act (AODA) standards 
information. 

Cataraqui Trail Signage
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• All of the projects listed above 
includes new regulatory signage 
such as:

- no parking
- no unauthorized vehicles
- falling hazards etc.

• These signs accompany the new 
gate set ups that are being 
installed along the trail at road 
intersections 

Cataraqui Trail Signage
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• All of the projects were completed 
in conjunction with the regular 
maintenance operations such as 
mowing, inspections, and trail 
maintenance. 

• Cataraqui Conservation staff 
continue to work with the partners 
along the trail to maintain safety 
and improve the trail for it’s many 
users.

Conclusion
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Thank You
Questions?
Steve Knapton
Coordinator, Operations Planning
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Development Review Service  
2021 Activity Report

Full Authority Board Meeting - February 23, 2022
59
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• Cataraqui Conservation 
Development Review team 
members and roles

• Planning & Regulation
• Challenges in 2021
• How service response time 

is measured
• 2021 application review statistics
• Initiatives for 2022
• Questions?

Outline
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Meet the Team 
Andrew Schmidt 

Supervisor, 
Development Review

Kristen Wozniak
Resource Planner

Eric Gallaway
Development Officer

Mike Dakin
Resource Planner

Hailey Esdon
Development Officer

Rhonda Roantree
Resource Planning 

Clerk

61



4

Planning 
Review Planning Act applications (e.g. 
consent to sever, plan of subdivision) in 
consideration of natural hazards (e.g. 
flooding, erosion), natural heritage (e.g. 
wetlands, woodlands), water quantity 
and water quality.

Development Review Roles
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Regulation
A provincially mandated regulation 
(O. Reg. 148/06) to review 
activities in consideration of the 
control of flooding, erosion, 
pollution, dynamic beaches or the 
conservation of land. Wetlands are 
also regulated to ensure protection 
of their ecologic and hydrologic 
functions

Development Review Roles
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• Staffing
• Staff transitions/onboarding new staff
• Positive – added two staff members to our team 

• Engineering Reviews 
• High volume of files requiring technical review 
• Many reviews had to be contracted out

• Changes to GIS and Database Software
• New software for regulated areas mapping 
• Database was merged with GIS software 

• Municipal Timelines for Plan Review
• Continued short response window for submissions 

(including 2nd & 3rd submissions)

• COVID-19 Pandemic
• Adapting to changing restrictions 
• Record planning application count and enforcement file 

count/workload and high permit application count 
• Personal stressors/constraints

Challenges in 2021

Permissssion
granted… 

With 
conditions
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Challenges in 2021 – Municipal Timelines

Plan Review – Response Timelines for Municipalities (Days)
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1. Plan Review Service Response Timing
• Service delivery response timing targets

▪ Meeting municipal timelines
• Municipal timelines

▪ 6–30 days - varies by municipality and application type

2. Permitting Service Response Timing
• Service delivery response timing targets – mandated by Ministry of Northern 

Development, Mines, Natural Resources & Forestry
▪ 30 days from receipt of a complete application for small projects (e.g. buildings, culverts, 

docks)
▪ 90 days from receipt of a complete application for larger, more complex files (e.g. Third 

Crossing)

How Service Response Timing is Measured
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Planning Permitting

5 Year Planning & Permitting Record
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2021 Service Response Results

2021 Plan Review and Permitting Activity Report
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• Complete 5 year review and 
update of Guidelines for 
Implementing O.Reg. 148/06

• Develop ecological offsetting 
policy

• Strengthen our Regulatory 
Compliance program 

• Streamline development review 
processes with partner 
municipalities 

• Continue to provide prompt high 
quality service in 2022

Initiatives for 2022
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Appreciating the Views Along the Way… 

70
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Thank you!

Hailey Esdon
Development Officer

hesdon@crca.ca
613-546-4228 ex. 235

Questions?
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Notes of Full Authority 
Board E-Poll 

 
 
 
Date: Monday, March 7, 2022 

Details: E-Poll 

 
Participants: Paul McAuley, Loyalist Township, Chair 

Al Barton, Township of Front of Yonge 
David Beatty, City of Brockville 
Al Hanes, Township of Elizabethtown-Kitley 
Jim Neill, City of Kingston 
Gordon Ohlke, Township of Leeds and the Thousand Islands 
Lisa Osanic, City of Kingston 
Terry Richardson, Town of Greater Napanee  
Claire Smith, Township of Rideau Lakes, Vice Chair 
Ross Sutherland, Township of South Frontenac 

 
Non-
Participants: 

Matt Harper, Town of Gananoque 
Garry Hewett, City of Brockville 
Wayne Hill, City of Kingston 
Gary Oosterhof, City of Kingston 
Alan Revill, Township of South Frontenac 
Nathan Townend, Loyalist Township 

 
 
Report IR-031-22, Authorized Representatives – Canada Revenue Agency was 
unanimously approved by all participating members of the Full Authority Board E-poll of 
March 7, 2022.  This time sensitive item required Full Authority Board approval. 
 
An E-Poll was conducted on March 2, 2022 requesting members to review report IR-
031-22, Authorized Representatives – Canada Revenue Agency.  Members were to e-
mail in support of, or concerns with, the proposed resolution.  Members were given until 
noon on Monday, March 7, 2022 to respond to the e-poll. 
 
In accordance with Section 15 (3) Open Meetings, under Part IV, Members and 
Governance of the Conservation Authority’s Act and Section 4.4, Meetings Open to 
Public of the Cataraqui Conservation By-Law No. 1 (Administration By-Law) Revision 4, 
a note was placed on the Minutes and Agenda section of Cataraqui Conservation 
website informing the public that there were no in-person meetings being held at this 
time and that the public was welcome to communicate via e-mail directly to Donna 
Campbell dcampbell@crca.ca if there were any questions, comments or concerns 
related to an agenda item.  No comments were received from the public. 
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Quorum was achieved, as more than one-half of members participated in the e-poll, in 
accordance with Section 4.6 of Cataraqui Conservation By-Law No. 1 (Administration 
By-Law) Revision 4.  Members showed support for the recommendation and there were 
no conflict of interests or comments raised. 
 
The following is the result of the e-poll: 
 
 
1.  Authorized Representatives – Canada Revenue Agency (Report IR-031-22) 
 

Resolution: 029-22 
Moved By: Lisa Osanic 
Seconded By: Jim Neill 

 
That Report IR-031-22, Authorized Representatives – Canada Revenue 
Agency, Be Received; and, 

 
That the Full Authority Board Authorize the following staff at the noted 
representative levels: 

 
• Cheryl Rider – Supervisor, Finance - Authorized Representative Level 3; 
• Katrina Furlanetto – General Manager - Authorized Representative Level 

3; 
• Laura Dietrich – Financial Analyst - Authorized Representative – Level 2; 

and, 
 

That the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority’s business number 
program accounts with Canada Revenue Agency, Be Amended, to include 
the above noted representatives. 

Carried 
 
 
 
Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
 
 
 

  
 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc. 
General Manager 

 Paul McAuley, Chair 
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Report # IR-043-22 

 
 
 

Date: March 23, 2022 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report  

Consent Item ☒ 
Item for Board Consideration ☐ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – March 2022 

 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That Report IR-043-22, General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – March 
2022, Be Received. 
 
 
 
 

4.0 Purpose 
 
To enhance the communications from the General Manager’s Office to the Full 
Authority Board through monthly updates on internal and external items. 
 
 
 
 

5.0 Background 
 
At the Request of the Chair, the General Manager will be providing monthly 
updates to the Board of Directors starting March 2022 on internal and external 
communications, upcoming meetings, items to be highlighted for consideration, 
and updates from across the watershed. This will encourage engagement and 
communication between the General Manger’s Office and the Full Authority 
Board and is proposed to become a standard item within the agenda package. 
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6.0 Strategic Plan 

 
This report supports Goal F in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui 2020. 
 
To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers. 
 

• Maintain a positive image in the community. 
• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas. 
• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste. 
• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 

materials conservation. 
• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff. 
• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies. 
• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 

communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology. 

• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 
 
 
 
 

7.0 Input from Other Sources 
 
A summary of internal and external communications from the General Manager’s 
Office is provided below. 
 
Internal 
- Individual monthly staff “Quality Time” meetings 
- Weekly Leadership Team meetings 
- All-Staff meetings on 2nd and 4th Wednesday of the month 
- Source Water Protection Committee meeting 
- Personnel Committee meeting 
- Planning, Permitting Ad Hoc Committee meeting 
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External 
- Bi-weekly eastern Conservation Authority General Manager calls 
- Eastern Ontario Rural Network collaboration opportunity discussion 
- Municipal inquiries on the provincial Agricultural Board Member process 
- Programs & Services Inventory review with City of Kingston senior staff 
- Monthly Latornell Symposium Steering Committee meeting 
- Check-in with Frontenac County on Administration Facility Transition  
- Review of 2022 FMIS Workplan for information management 

 
 
 
 
8.0 Analysis 

 
Updates: 

 
1. Legislated Requirements 

 
a. Ontario Not-for-Profit Corporations Act  

Proclaimed in October 2021, Conservation Authorities are required to 
transition to new rules within the next three years. Conservation 
Ontario is establishing a working committee to review and determine 
requirements to be considered within our Administrative By-Law 
associated with business practices. 
 

b. Working for Workers Act / Employment Standards Act 
For an employer with 25 or more employees as of January 1st of any 
given year, two policies must be considered and developed for all 
employees: 
o The Right to Disconnect (by June 2, 2022) 
o Electronic Monitoring Policy (not yet proclaimed) 

 
c. Conservation Authorities Act Amendments 

o Provincial recruitment posting for an Agricultural Representative 
closed on February 21, 2022 

o Submitted comments to Ministry of Environment, Conservation and 
Parks (MECP) on the Regulations and Policy Proposals 
Consultation Guide (Phase 2) by February 25, 2022 

o Circulated Programs & Services Inventory to MECP, participating 
municipalities and posted on the website by February 28, 2022 

o Municipal workshop in development to provide consultation 
opportunity on Programs & Services Inventory and cost-
apportioning agreements 
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2. COVID-19  
 

- All protocols continue to be in place per public health guidance 
- Staff work remotely, where feasible, with a gradual return to the office 

planned over the coming weeks 
- Office remains open for staff and by-appointment only for the public 

 
3. Board Meeting Survey Results 
 

- At the request of the Chair, a brief survey was circulated to Board 
members on March 1st, 2022, with nine (9) responses received 

- Results indicated members were pleased with the current agenda 
package format and overall content presented 

- Meetings were suggested to move forward with a hybrid format with 
suggested topics highlighted for consideration at future meetings 

 
4. Public Programming  

 
- Property users noted some of the best winter conditions on our trails  
- Additional signage added to assist multi-user trail awareness 
- Winter ski rentals at Little Cataraqui Creek Conservation Area ended the 

last weekend of February after an excellent season 
- Maple Madness is in full swing at Little Cataraqui Creek Conservation 

Area throughout March with online registration and event safety tips 
outlined on our website 

 
5. Administration Facility Transition 
 

- Construction tendering in progress, awaiting vendor responses 
- Phasing, timing, and financial strategy to be reviewed and finalized by 

County Council and Cataraqui Conservation Board pending tender review 
 

 
Upcoming Meetings of Interest: 
 

• March 24, 2022 – Municipal Drinking Water Source Protection Forum 
(Topic – Source Protection and Climate Change) 

• April 27, 2022 – Full Authority Board Meeting 
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9.0 Financial Considerations 
 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.0 Conclusion 
 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by) 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 
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Report # IR-044-22 

 
 
 

Date: March 23, 2022 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report  

Consent Item ☐ 
Item for Board Consideration ☒ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
Strategic Risk Reporting 

 
 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That Report IR-044-22, Strategic Risk Reporting, Be Received; and, 
 
That the Strategic Risk Reporting Framework (Attachment #1), Be Approved, 
for implementation; and, 
 
That staff, Be Directed, to provide the Full Authority Board with a Strategic Risk 
Reporting update bi-annually. 
 
 
 
 

4.0 Purpose 
 
The purpose of this report is to propose a risk management reporting framework 
for consideration to bring forward to the Full Authority Board on a bi-annual basis 
as a communications tool for assessing the organization’s approach and due 
diligence towards managing different levels of risk.  
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5.0 Background 

 
The identification and management of risk is of increasing importance within 
public sector organizations, such as Conservation Authorities, and is a best 
management practice for overall governance to demonstrate due diligence and 
transparency. Through risk identification, assessment, and the prioritization of 
mitigation measures, defined risks can be minimized, monitored, and potential 
impacts controlled to meet a reasonable minimum standard of care. 
 
Cataraqui Conservation does not currently have a risk management policy, 
framework, or reporting mechanism to guide overall efforts in identifying and 
managing risk. Discussions are held at the Leadership Team table on identifying 
risks across the organization through project management, departmental gap 
analysis, strategic planning, asset management, budget development and 
personal objective setting.  
 
Staff recommend that a risk reporting framework be brought forward to the Full 
Authority Board to outline the top risk management considerations and efforts 
currently being employed to mitigate risk exposure by the Conservation Authority. 
A more detailed policy and risk management program can be considered through 
the development of Cataraqui Conservation’s Strategic Plan. 
 
 
 
 

6.0 Strategic Plan 
 
This report supports Goal F in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui 2020. 
 
To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers. 
 
• Maintain a positive image in the community. 
• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas. 
• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste. 
• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 

materials conservation. 
• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff. 
• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies. 
• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 

communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology. 

• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 

80



Page 3 of 5  
Cataraqui Conservation – Report IR-044-22 - Strategic Risk Reporting  
March 23, 2022 
 
 
7.0 Input from Other Sources 

 
At the request of the Chair, the General Manager, Vice Chair, and Assistant, 
Chair and General Manager discussed the development of a high-level risk 
management reporting framework that could be brought to the Full Authority 
Board in March 2022 for consideration. The intent is to bring an update on risk 
management to the Board twice in a year (early winter, fall) as a communication 
and engagement tool for supporting members in understanding the 
organization’s risks and deciding on strategies and budget allocations to mitigate 
significant risks where appropriate. 

 
The General Manager researched examples of risk reporting frameworks to 
Board of Directors at different organizations and surveyed Conservation Authority 
partners and municipalities. Conservation Halton and Otonabee Conservation 
provided references as well as the Cataraqui Conservation Foundation.  
 
 
 
 

8.0 Analysis 
 
What is risk? Risk is defined as the probability of an event, action or trend to 
occurring that can negatively impact the outcome of an objective, program, or 
service of Cataraqui Conservation once occurred. Risk management therefore is 
the identification, assessment, and prioritization of categories of risk followed by 
allocating resources to minimize the likelihood and impact (probability of 
exposure) of activities that may hinder the implementation of strategic priorities. 
 
There is a broad range of programs and services offered by Cataraqui 
Conservation which supports a variety of activities and associated risk factors 
across the watershed. Cataraqui Conservation purchases liability insurance to 
cover these activities and protect itself from external legal action. In addition, it’s 
important to demonstrate due diligence through an active program of risk 
assessment, evaluation, and mitigation.  
 
The Board is responsible for approving strategic objectives and validating the risk 
appetite across the organization. As a Board member, each representative has a 
role in monitoring the overall implementation of risk management actions and 
deciding on the allocation of resources for mitigating exposure. A bi-annual report 
(Q1 and Q4) will promote engagement, transparency, accountability, and will 
highlight areas for focusing strategic planning. 
 
The intent of a risk scorecard so to speak is to provide the Board with a status 
update by outlining the different areas of risk exposure within the organization at 
a high level to support risk oversight.  
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Organizational risks are often broken down and defined into five main categories, 
as outlined in Table 1, Organizational Risk Categories below.  
 

Table 1: Organizational Risk Categories 
 

Risk Categories Risk Exposure 

Strategic Includes changes in political environment, demographic 
shifts and changes to the legislative and regulatory 
environment 

Reputational Includes impacts to the brand, reputation, public image, 
stakeholder relations, and conflict of interest  

Financial Includes changes to significant funding sources, variances 
in revenue and expenditures 

Operational Includes impact to information and data management 
systems, cyber security, occupational health and safety, 
business interruption, human resources, fraud, theft, 
extreme weather events, property hazards, asset 
management, planning decisions 

Compliance Includes legislative compliance to meet regulatory 
requirements, protection of privacy, political capital, legal 
implications, enforcement 

 
A Strategic Risk Reporting Template for consideration can be found in 
Attachment #1.  

 
Pending approval of the reporting template and risk identifiers, bi-annual updates 
are recommended to be brought forward through the General Manager’s monthly 
progress report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 

 
Risk identification, assessment, evaluation, and mitigation is conducted as part of 
overall governance and administration, covered through the annually approved 
Operating Budget. 
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10.0 Conclusion 

 
Staff recommend bi-annual risk management reporting updates be provided to 
the Full Authority Board through the proposed framework and identified risk 
categories. In doing so, this reporting will support the Board in understanding and 
monitoring the overall implementation of risk management across the 
organization, which will support future strategic decisions and allocation of 
resources to mitigate outstanding liabilities. 
 
 
 
 

Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by) 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
 

Attachment: 
 

1) Strategic Risk Reporting Framework - Draft (March 2022) 
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Cataraqui Conservation

Strategic Risk Reporting Framework (Draft)

Last reviewed: March 23, 2022

Risk Category Risk Exposure Rationale
Potential

Impact
Trend

Operational Staffing Capacity

Key positions identified to fill in needed skills gaps and address regulatory 
deliverables. Recruitment continues to be a challenge for high-demand 
positions (i.e., engineering). Workforce Capacity Review underway to 
identify implementation strategy and Compensation Review to be 
completed for assessing market-rate competition, retaining and attracting 
staff.

High

Operational Information Management

Risks to cyber security and data management breaches have increased 
substantially with the pandemic. Our insurance provider has requested 
several actions be implemented to continue with current coverage.  Staff 
are working with FMIS to implement requested best practices and 
increase internal awareness to scams.

High

Operational
 Reputational 
Compliance

Asset Management

Significant unfunded capital projects to support infrastructure maintenance 
requirements are to be addressed. Condition assessments completed with 
recommendations on significant improvement to water control structures 
and facilities. Funding strategies to be developed to meet lifecycle 
demands and legislated responsibility. 

High

Strategic
Financial

Political Capital

Provincial and municipal elections are being held in 2022 which could 
change the political dynamics and priorities across the watershed, on the 
Board, and funding availability to support Conservation Authorities may 
change. Election messaging and advocacy is underway at Conservation 
Ontario.

Medium

Financial Funding

Provincial funding for natural hazards management uncertain in 2022-
2023 fiscal. Municipal cost-sharing agreements for several programs to be 
negotiated to support continued Municipal Levy contribution towards 
operations. Self-generated revenue in review for community-based 
programming.

Medium

Operational
Financial

Administration Facility 
Transition

Approved financial strategy will require review pending tendering results 
as construction and labour market prices continue to rise and original 
project budget estimates may be underestimated. 

Medium

Operational
Reputational 
Compliance

Property Management

Policies and procedures in place and adhered to for supporting user safety 
and property maintenance. Public safety signage and trail accessibility 
standards under review for all properties. Lands inventory and legal 
agreement templates for landowners in development.

Low

Operational Workplace Safety

Health & safety mitigation efforts are in place to meet regulatory 
requirements and best management practices. All required policies are in 
place and adhered to. To be determined: what do post-pandemic 
practices look like?

Low

Definitions:

Risk Category

Risk Category

Strategic

Reputational

Financial

Operational

Compliance

Impact

Trend Status Quo (No Change)

Risk Exposure Increasing (Action Required)

Risk Exposure Decreasing (Improvement)

Includes legislative compliance to meet regulatory requirements, protection of privacy, political 
capital, legal implications, enforcement

Organizational risk can be categorized as Strategic, Reputational, Financial, Operational, or Compliance depending on the impact to the 
organization.

High (red), Medium (yellow), or Low (green) depending on the likelihood and impact of occurrence and whether risk management activities 
have been implemented or demonstrated to show improvement in the inherent risk exposure.

Risk Exposure Examples

Includes changes in political environment, demographic shifts and changes to the legislative 
and regulatory environment

Includes impacts to the brand, reputation, public image, stakeholder relations, and conflict of 
interest
Includes changes to significant funding sources, variances in revenue and expenditures

Includes impact to information and data management systems, cyber security, occupational 
health and safety, business interruption, human resources, fraud or theft, extreme weather 
events, property hazards, asset management, planning decisions

Attachment #1 - Report IR-044-22 Strategic Risk Reporting 

84



 
Report # IR-045-22 

 
 
 

Date: Wednesday March 23, 2022 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Krista Fazackerley, 
Supervisor, Communications & Education 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report  

Consent Item ☒ 
Item for Board Consideration ☐ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
Cataraqui Conservation Advertising Services - Update 
 

 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 
 

That Report IR-045-22, Cataraqui Conservation Advertising Services - Update, 
Be Received. 

 
 
 
 
4.0 Purpose 

 
The purpose of this report is to update the Board on report IR-006-20, Cataraqui 
Conservation Advertising Services, and report on findings from the one-year pilot 
with Postmedia.  
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5.0 Background 

 
At the January 2020 Full Authority Board meeting, staff outlined an advertising 
pilot program with Postmedia, report IR-006-20, to leverage their network and 
test digital advertising platforms that were new to Cataraqui Conservation. The 
goal of the one-year pilot contract was to: 

• Increase public awareness of Cataraqui Conservation’s programs, 
services, and events; 

• Increase engagement by educating the public through compelling online 
content both on social media and Cataraqui Conservation’s website; and 

• Generate better conversion rates: 
o increase attendance at key events,  
o increase attendance to conservation areas, and; 
o increase social media engagements and website traffic. 

 
The proposal included five types of digital content that were to be analyzed over 
a one-year period testing the effectiveness of these platforms on the three main 
goals listed above: awareness, engagement, and conversion. 
 

1. Programmatic digital display: ads that can be targeted by site, section, 
geography, device, and audience. These are banner display ads that click 
back to a website so visitors can learn more and connect. 
 

2. Digital audio: ads that are presented to an audience while they stream 
music online. Audio ads are accompanied by clickable banner ads and are 
targeted to a specific audience. Spotify was the streaming service 
proposed for the pilot contract.  
 

3. Custom content: also known as promoted articles. These are strategically 
crafted articles that appear on Postmedia’s online network and are 
promoted via Facebook’s advertising platform to maximize their reach to a 
set audience or geographical area. 
 

4. Facebook advertising: advertising and search engine marketing (browser 
key word searches) are online tools to grow a quality addressable 
audience and nurture audience relationships. 
 

5. Search engine marketing: keyword ads are created to drive searched 
keywords to corresponding content on Cataraqui Conservation’s website.  

 
The one-year pilot contract with Postmedia was approved at the January 29, 
2020, Board meeting, resolution number011-20. Analytics and recommendations 
were to come back to the Board after the completion of the pilot.  
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6.0 Strategic Plan 

 
This report supports Goal F in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui 2020. 
 
To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers. 
 

• Maintain a positive image in the community. 
• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas. 
• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste. 
• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 

materials conservation. 
• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff. 
• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies. 
• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 

communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology. 

• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 
• Maintain a positive image in the community. 
• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste. 
• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 

communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology. 

 
 
 
 

7.0 Input from Other Sources 
 

• Advertising analytics from Postmedia staff 
• Coordinator, Communications  
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8.0 Analysis 

 
The pilot program with Postmedia started in February 2020, running to December 
and combined the five digital platforms listed above throughout the year to create 
an effective integrated advertising campaign. The first major push was around 
general Authority information such as conservation areas, planning and 
permitting, and Maple Madness in March.  
 
Unfortunately, in the first week of March 2020 the COVID-19 pandemic hit our 
region and on March 9 staff had to pull all advertising and pause the campaign, 
ultimately cancelling the contract when the severity of the pandemic came to 
light. Maple Madness ran for two days, and the campaign included a new 
promotional video shot the year before. Correspondence from Postmedia staff 
before the cancellation of Maple Madness indicated that advertising was doing 
well and was on track for a successful campaign for the month of March.  
 
Based on just over two weeks of the campaign (before cancellation on March 9), 
Postmedia staff calculated the following analytics from each platform: 
 

• Digital Audio (Spotify): Cataraqui Conservation Maple Madness ads were 
served to 30,714 Spotify users, with a total reach of 6,629 people.  
 

• Facebook: Maple Madness and Conservation Area ads had 69,662 
impressions (the number of times content is displayed) with 1,884 clicks 
by users and 984 website clicks. 

o Maple Madness ads breakdown: 44,756 impressions, 1,006 clicks, 
reaching 19,102 people. 

o Conservation Area ads breakdown: 24,906 impressions, 878 clicks, 
reaching 15,631 people.  
 

• YouTube: The Maple Madness promo video was used in a YouTube 
campaign. In the two-week period it had 11,029 impressions and 2,413 
video views.  
 

• Search Engine Marketing: This was a mix of general keywords: Cataraqui 
Conservation, Conservation Areas, Planning, Permits, docks, etc. along 
with event keywords for Maple Madness. 

o 2,801 impressions, 328 clicks on ads, with top clicks 1) Maple 
Madness, 2) Cataraqui Conservation, and 3) Conservation Areas. 

  

88



Page 2 of 2  
Cataraqui Conservation – Report IR-045-22 – Advertising Services - Update 
March 23, 2022 
 

 
The first custom content, or promoted article, was scheduled for the spring of 
2020 to help educate the public on Cataraqui Conservation’s role in flood 
forecasting and warning. The campaign was cancelled before staff were able to 
launch this content.  
 
Since the cancellation of the Postmedia contract due to COVID-19, staff have 
continued to leverage the free sections of these online platforms growing our 
users steadily each month. The metrics provided from Postmedia, although over 
a very short time period, did help staff understand how users interacted with our 
content on each platform and gave staff a solid indication that communicating 
online to our watershed is the best use of advertising dollars and staff time.  
 
With the launch of Cataraqui Conservation’s new brand and website, staff have 
been able to extend audience reach and create new engaging content to 
promote and educate the public on Cataraqui Conservation’s programs and 
services. The website has become the main focal point for news items that are 
posted across social media platforms and drive users back to the website for 
further information. It has also created an avenue to showcase staff work, and 
dive deeper into core programs and services to help our partners and the 
community understand who we are and what we do.  
 
The Postmedia pilot gave staff the tools and insight to maintain advertising 
services in-house and are not pursuing third party expertise for online marketing 
and advertising going forward.  

 
 
 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 

 
No financial implications.  
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10.0 Conclusion 

 
Cataraqui Conservation has an active online presence in our watershed. 
Residents seek out online tools like web searches, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram 
and our website to connect with staff and gather information about our programs 
and services. 
 
The pilot with Postmedia was short, however, it did give staff the knowledge to 
create online content in house and leverage these platforms within a limited 
advertising budget. Staff currently engage with media partners through news 
releases and news item emails and will continue to do so into the future. Most 
advertising going forward will leverage free online tools with a mix of paid ads on 
these channels, completed in house. Traditional print media will be considered 
through the watershed, however, when needed for events and important service 
or policy announcements.  
 
 
 
 

Respectfully submitted,  Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by)  (Original signed by) 

Krista Fazackerley 
Supervisor, Communications &Education 

 Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 
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Friends of Lemoine Point  

Minutes of Board Meeting: October 8, 2021  

Present: John Diemer, Karen Samis, Peter Butler, Ron Bettney, Sandra McCance, 

Paul Musiol. Regrets: Rick Knapton. Guest: Ross McGowan 

Consistent with COVID-19 regulations, the meeting was held outdoors at the Native Plant 

Nursery. The meeting opened at 13:15 hrs with President John Diemer in the chair.  

1. Approval of Agenda: The Agenda had been circulated by email. There being no comments, the agenda was adopted.  

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting: The Minutes of the September 2021 meeting had been circulated by email. 

Comments on the minutes: item 11. Invasive Species. John has asked Krista to put the signage project on hold, 

rather than cancel as noted in the minutes.  

3. Business Arising: None.  

4. Treasurer’s Report: Financial report for September 2021 and year end statements were circulated via e-mail on 
October 1, 2021. All questions were addressed by Ron. No issues arising. Review of Friends financial statements 
scheduled for the week after this meeting. 

5. 2021-22 Budget: no new items. 

6. AGM: Given on-going COVID restrictions, a venue for the AGM remains unconfirmed. John raised options 

for discussion. 1) hold the AGM at a new location, 2) hold the AGM remotely (e.g. Zoom), 3) cancel the AGM. 

After discussion of each option, it was determined that the AGM would be canceled (100% voting in favour), 

and the decision would be communicated to our members in the upcoming newsletter. 

 

As part of the discussion, how and if the Board should share annual financial statements with members was 

raised. In the past, financial statements have been distributed in person at the AGM. Options discussed: 1) as 

an attachment to the newsletter, 2) by request only, 3) posted on our website. All agreed that annual financial 

statements should be made available to members, and it was decided after a vote the statements would be 

posted online (4 voting in favour of option 3, 2 voting for option 1). 

7. Board Membership: With the cancelation of the AGM, it was agreed that Board positions for 2022 would be decided 

in this meeting and posted in the newsletter. Decisions: 

Karen Samis - President; John Diemer - Past President; Peter Butler - VP; Ron Bettney - Treasurer; Ross McGowan - 

Secretary; Sandra McCance, Paul Musiol.  

 

8. Trails Maintenance & Accessibility: Trail maintenance and accessibility was raised as an issue of importance to some 
members and visitors to Lemoine Point. Agreement to discuss Friends involvement at a future meeting. 

9. Native Plant Nursery: Sandra McCance has taken the role as nursery lead. Two successful tree plantings helped 

clean up nursery stock and raising awareness for nursery activities. The nursery volunteer team has recruited new 

members, including Ross. 

 

10: Trees & Heritage Forest: Two recent tree planting events as noted in previous minutes were each success in terms 
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on number of trees planted (125 on Sept 16; 350 on Oct 2) and donation contributions ($3200 from Trees Canada, $5000 

Trees Days). 

11. Invasive Species: Due to on-going interest and issues with buckthorn, garlic mustard and dog strangling 

vine, it was decided to bring the topic of invasive species management forward for future discussion by the 

Board. 

12. Membership, Volunteers & Publicity: Decision: Request for membership renewals will be communicated in the 

fall newsletter. Karen will keep membership secretary duties for now, and while John maintains responsibilities for 

new volunteer outreach. A call for new board membership will be added to the fall newsletter (drafted by Karen, 

finalized by John).  

There was discussion on whether departing board members should receive a gift in thanks for their contributions. 

Decision to not send gifts, but a card would be circulated for adding personal notes to Pam and Paul.  

13. Other CRCA Business: Rick Knapton not present.  

14: Other Business: Biodiversity projects: for discussion at a future meeting.  

15. Next Meeting: December 6, 2021.  
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Friends of Lemoine Point 

Minutes of Board Meeting: January 10, 2022 

 

Present: Karen Samis, John Diemer, Peter Butler, Sandra McCance, Paul Musiol, Rick Knapton, Ross McGowan 

Regrets:. Ron Bettney 

Consistent with COVID-19 regulations, the meeting was held virtually using Zoom hosted by Karen 

The meeting opened at 13:04 hrs with President Karen Samis in the chair.  

1. Approval of Agenda: The Agenda had been circulated by email. There being no comments, the agenda was adopted.  

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting: The Minutes of the October 2021 meeting had been included in the emailed meeting 
request for the current meeting. The minutes were accepted by consensus. 

3. Business Arising: There was no business arising from the previous meeting or minutes. 

4. Treasurer’s Report: Financial reports for November and December 2021 had been included in the meeting request. 
No issues arising. 

5. FLP membership: Karen noted that she had received 2 cheques made out to FLP; CRCA administration has previously 
indicated that the bank will not deposit such cheques to CRCA account. Karen will work with CRCA to ensure our 
instructions to members are clear. 

6. FLP AGM annual report/newsletter: As noted in previous minutes, AGM was cancelled. It was previously decided to 
post the 2020/2021 financial statements on the FLP website, this has been completed. The newsletter was distributed 
by email or mail in mid November by Karen and John. Neither Karen nor John has received any noteworthy feedback. 

6. Board Membership: Peter had previously taken an action to poll nursery volunteers for interest in joining the board. 
This led to Ross joining. A call for membership was also included in the November Newsletter following consensus that it 
would be good to fill the ‘at large’ vacancies on the board. John agreed to follow up with members who have previously 
expressed interest in serving on the board (i.e. upon joining FLP, in response to new member questionnaire query about 
new members’ areas of interest). 

7. Trails Maintenance & Accessibility: As part of a CRCA activity update, Rick reported extensive damage to the 
shoreline during the December 11 wind storm. Rick shared information about CRCA activities in response to the storm 
including the effort required to remove storm debris from shoreline trail. Rick continued his review of CRCA activities at 
LP since the last meeting, noting that $15k of materials for trail maintenance have been delivered late in 2021. CRCA 
staff began spreading this material on trail 5 plus the soft trails. In late spring CRCA will spread additional 5/8” gravel on 
trail 5, followed by screened material and then rolling. It is also planned to realign the waterfront trail, remove the 
wooden bridge and replace it with a culvert. This will permit vehicle access to the area, easing maintenance and 
construction activities. Rick reminded the group that replacement of damaged bench boards was deferred in 2021 
because of the high cost of lumber. Now that lumber costs have returned to near-normal, he suggested that we proceed 
with purchasing the required lumber. There was consensus that the previously-approved amount of $1200 with a 10% 
allowance for inflation could be expended to purchase the required materials. CRCA staff will install the replacement 
bench boards in due course. 

8. Native Plant Nursery: Sandra reported that NPN and CRCA (Rick) met November 3 to prepare a prospective bare-root 
stock order for the 2022 season. Rick commented that some of the species on our list will not be available, he will be 
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placing orders with our normal suppliers at the appropriate time. Nursery activities concluded in late November for the 
most part, however a small group dry-planted some donated wildflower seeds in early December to be watered in the 
early Spring to initiate germination. As in previous years, a rotation of volunteers is visiting the nursery on a regular basis 
over the winter months to check on things. Some rodent pests appear to have breached the fence-line on occasion, it is 
not clear if there has been any damage to our stock. Temperatures in the greenhouse have been reaching high-20s (°C) 
on milder days. 

9: Trees & Heritage Forest: Rick reported that late in the year Trees Canada contacted him to express interest in a 
planting event in September 2022, similar to the one that was completed in 2021. For the 2021 event they provided $5k 
funding to plant 200 trees. Rick commented that he has some donated tree seeds (Sycamore, Butternut, Hackberry) that 
are available for planting. 

11. Invasive Species: There was a general discussion of possible invasive species activity for the coming year. Rick noted 
that invasive species continue to be a big challenge to LP and the NPN/tree planting is a key component of the approach 
to managing invasive species. 

12. Membership, Volunteers & Publicity:  Karen proposed and others supported establishing a FLP membership gmail 
address to assist with managing Membership Secretary workflow. No objections. Karen to share membership email 
address with the board and CRCA (for website). Karen proposed to establish a shared location for FLP documents for the 
benefit of board members. There was concurrence that this was a good idea. Current plan is Google drive subject to 
Karen space limitations. For further discussion or action by Karen and info to board members. Peter reported that a 
retired engineer had contacted him to express interest in volunteering with the NPN. Sandra requested Peter to forward 
contact info so she could reach out in welcome.  

13. Other CRCA Business: FLP presentation to CRCA board (February, 2022) – considerable discussion about the CRCA 
request for a presentation from FLP and the planned content of the presentation – summary below. Per the agenda, 
Karen had requested input from board members about inputs in general and planned projects in particular. 

CRCA request – Rick and Tom Beaubiah, who had temporarily joined the meeting, clarified that CRCA board made this 
request to all 3 CRCA Friends groups (Mac Johnson, Cataraqui Trail, FLP) so that they would have a chance to interact 
with reps from each group and establish a better understanding / cooperative relationship. It was suggested that the 
presentation might cover past accomplishments, current activities and future plans at a high level for familiarization 
purposes. 

In addition to a list of ideas shared by Peter ahead of the meeting by email, a variety of topics/history were suggested / 
provided for consideration. It was noted that not all topics will be appropriate / of interest to CRCA board, some plans 
are notional at the moment. For consideration by Karen as she develops the presentation. 

Karen requested the following assistance to support her preparations: 

Ron – Provide a summary of financial contributions to various activities at LP, to be outlined in a separate email. It was 
suggested that we consider creating and maintaining an informal log of major expenses (e.g. support to CRCA initiatives) 
for ongoing and future reference. For further discussion. 

Peter – Provide a summary of tree planting events/projects 

Rick – Provide information on past planting activity (numbers of trees), barn swallow structure 

John - Provide a summary of invasive species activities and priorities (dog strangling vine, garlic mustard and buckthorn) 

All – (esp. Sandra plus Paul) provide digital photos of LP, NPN to Karen if available 

Past accomplishments and future plans were briefly discussed and subject matter focals were requested to provide 
additional input to Karen as outlined above. It was planned to continue the discussion at the next meeting. 
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14: Other Business: Future tentative plans - there was a brief conversation on ideas for 2022 activities, to be continued 
in the next meeting. No decisions were made. 

15. Next Meeting: Consensus that 1st Monday (morning 10-12) or afternoon (1 -3) is generally acceptable for 2022 board 
meetings. Future board meetings will be virtual until COVID subsides, then hopefully at CRCA LP workshop facility 
subject to conformance with current CRCA guidance. Next meeting is tentatively planned for 2022 02 07 1300 – 1500. 
Karen noted that she has a potential schedule conflict on that date, and to prepare for that contingency suggested that 
another board member should host the call. There was agreement from the other members. Volunteers with a Zoom 
account are requested. 

Meeting closed at 14:30 hrs 
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Friends of Lemoine Point 

Minutes of Board Meeting: February 10, 2022 

 

Present: Karen Samis, John Diemer, Peter Butler, Sandra McCance, Paul Musiol, Rick Knapton, Ross McGowan 

Regrets:. Ron Bettney 

The meeting was held virtually using Zoom hosted by Karen. 

The meeting opened at 13:03 hrs with President Karen Samis in the chair.  

1. Approval of Agenda: The Agenda had been circulated by email. The agenda was adopted. 

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting: The Minutes of the January 10 meeting had been included in the emailed meeting 
request for the current meeting. One item noted as requiring correction: From item 7. Trails Maintenance & 
Accessibility, the statement that “Further discussion required to confirm who will perform the replacement of the 
[damaged bench] boards and when this will be completed.” It was noted that, in fact, it has always been standard 
practice for CRCA personnel to perform this activity, using funds from the Friends to purchase the required lumber. It 
was agreed that the draft minutes of the previous meeting would be adjusted to reflect this, and would remain in draft 
from until 2022 02 11 pending further comments or corrections. Once any such feedback is received and incorporated, 
the minutes will be finalized and distributed to all, including Krista and Donna at CRCA. Minutes of the previous meeting 
will also be distributed to CRCA. 

3. Business Arising: Karen continues to prepare the presentation that will be delivered to CRCA board on March 23rd 
with inputs from board members as discussed at the previous meeting. The remainder of the meeting was focussed on 
planning discussions. 

4. Planning discussions: Several initiatives and projects were discussed for the purpose of identifying the level of 
support/interest for each. These discussions will continue at the next meeting and will lead to a consensus plan for FLP 
activities in 2022. Activities/projects for ongoing discussion include: 

• Trail improvement  

• Commemoration of Jane Murphy including memorial walk and memorial bench  

• Arboretum – planning and execution 

• Nursery operations – Online sales, volunteer recruitment 

• New Board member process 

• Newsletter  

• Biodiversity  

• Education/outreach  

• Greenhouse upgrade 
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• Invasive species 

• Tending of plantings 

5. Next Meeting: Next meeting is scheduled for 2022 03 07 from 10-12 AM location TBD (Zoom or CRCA workshop at 
LP). Tentative agenda: 

• Review presentation to CRCA board 

• Discuss Jane Murphy memorial activities 

• Discuss/plan resumption of trail maintenance team 

• Discuss/plan resumption of invasive species control 

 

Meeting closed at 14:32 hrs 
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Report # IR-047-22 

 
 
 

Date: March 23, 2022 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Donna Campbell, 
Assistant, Chair & General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report 

Consent Item ☒ 
Item for Board Consideration ☐ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
Report on Communications 

 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That report IR-047-22, Report on Communications, Be Received. 
 

ITEM DETAILS 

1.  Conservation Ontario (CO) 
 

a) CO letter to Ministry of Environment, Conservations and Parks 
(MECP) ERO Response letter dated February 25, 2022 
re: Conservation Ontario’s Comments on “Regulatory and policy 
proposals (Phase 2) under the Conservation Authorities Act” 
(ERO# 019-4610)  

 
b) CO letter to Ministry of Environment, Conservations and Parks 

(MECP) Divisional Compliance Branch dated March 10, 2022 
re: Conservation Ontario’s Comments on “Expanding administrative 
penalties for environmental contraventions” (ERO# 019-4108) 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Report IR-047-22 – Report on Communications 
March 23, 2022 
 

 
2.  Cataraqui Conservation Staff Accomplishments 

 
a) Kristen Wozniak, Resource Planner - Ontario Association of 

Committees of Adjustment and Consent Authorities (OACA) – Primer 
on Planning Course Certificate 

 
b) Cheryl Rider, Supervisor, Finance - Association of Municipal 

Managers, Clerks and Treasurers of Ontario (AMCTO) – Certificate 
and Diploma in Municipal Administration 

 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by)  (Original signed by) 

Donna Campbell, 
Assistant, Chair & General Manager 

 Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 
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February 25, 2022 
 
Maria Vavro 
Conservation and Source Protection Branch 
Ministry of Environment, Conservation, and Parks 
40 St. Clair Avenue West, 14th Floor 
Toronto, ON 
M4V 1M2 
 
 
Re: Conservation Ontario’s Comments on “Regulatory and policy proposals (Phase 2) under the 

Conservation Authorities Act” (ERO# 019-4610)  
 
Dear Ms. Vavro,  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on the “Regulatory and policy proposals (Phase 2) 
under the Conservation Authorities Act”. Conservation Ontario (CO) is the network of Ontario’s 36 
conservation authorities (CAs). These comments are not intended to limit in any way comments 
submitted by a CA on this proposal.  
 
Conservation Ontario is generally supportive of the proposed content and direction of the REGULATORY 
AND POLICY PROPOSAL CONSULTATION GUIDE: Regulations regarding Municipal Levies, Conservation 
Authority Budget Process, Transparency, and Provincial Policy for the Charging of Fees by Conservation 
Authorities.  Conservation Ontario staff have appreciated the opportunity to participate in the 
Conservation Authorities Working Group formed by the Ministry of Environment, Conservation and 
Parks (MECP) to provide input and feedback on the development of regulations and policies under the 
Conservation Authorities Act.  The comment period initiated by the ERO posting enabled Conservation 
Ontario as a network to provide additional perspective.   
 
Conservation Ontario’s comments pertain to areas in which clarity would be helpful in the proposed 
regulations, to ensure ease of implementation, and to avoid any potential misinterpretation of the 
provisions. Further to this, Conservation Ontario offers the following comments organized according to 
the sections of the consultation guide for the Ministry’s consideration.  
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

The Proposal states in the Introduction that the proposals would be in effect for January 1, 2023, so that 
CA 2024 budgets and levy processes would follow them; recognizing that the budget and levy processes 
for the 2024 budgets are planned/negotiated in 2023.  For clarity it would be helpful for that rationale to 
be provided in the effective date clause of the regulation to prevent any confusion that it’s expected to 
apply to the 2023 budget with a January 1, 2023, effective date. 
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Part 1:  
PROPOSED MUNICIPAL LEVIES REGULATION 

 
Conservation Ontario supports the intent expressed for the proposed Municipal Levies Regulation which 
is “to ensure clear, consistent and transparent practice by the authorities and municipalities in the 
annual budget and municipal levy process and approval, and in the authority apportionment of project 
capital costs and operating expenses, including corporate administrative costs, to participating 
municipalities.”  In general, Conservation Ontario supports the proposal for a new and updated 
regulation that is consistent with long-standing practices and processes that work well in the existing CA 
levy and budgetary process. 
 
It is acknowledged that the intent of the new Municipal Levies Regulation is to apply the long-practiced 
budgeting, municipal levy processes, and voting and apportionment methods to the changed municipal 
levy context (e.g., Category 1,2,3 programs and services). The proposal to incorporate the two current 
levies regulations (O. Reg. 670/00 “Conservation Authority Levies”; O. Reg. 139/96 “Municipal Levies”) 
and update as appropriate, including terminology such as ‘general levy’, ‘special project levy’, and 
removing ‘matching’, and ‘non-matching’ levy is supported. As well, retention of the two existing voting 
methods and the three current methods of apportioning expenses/costs is supported.  
 
In general, Conservation Ontario also supports the proposal to incorporate the standards and policy for 
the authority budget process as currently set out in regulation and provincial policy as summarized in 
Table 1.  However, important points of clarification need to be addressed to ensure that the new 
municipal levies regulation meets its intent to provide flexibility and is not prescriptive to the point of 
encumbering current effective processes that have been established over many years. Through review 
of the proposal, some members raised some key concerns which could impede their ability to continue 
current best practices. 
 
For example, in at least one case, a CA awaits confirmation of municipal approval of their municipal 
budget which includes the municipal levy allocation from the CA, before they approve their CA budget.  
In this case, there are well established CA/municipal collaborative budget processes where this practice 
has become the agreed upon norm. To accommodate this practice, it is recommended that the 
proposed regulation include an exception clause for the 30 day advance notice provision.  This 
requirement should be waived where endorsement has already been attained from all funding 
municipalities for their municipal levy allocations prior to the CA providing final consideration and 
approval of the CA budget.  Additionally, given these circumstances, at the meeting for the levy vote 
which generally is also the meeting for the CA budget vote, there should be an exception for a 
‘weighted’ majority vote for the municipal levy allocations in the CA budget where they have already 
been approved by the participating municipalities through the approval of their municipal budget. 
  
Although Conservation Ontario believes that there is a common understanding with respect to the areas 
of CA budgets that need to be reviewed and endorsed by CA municipal partners, it is requested that 
clarification be provided in the forthcoming regulation. Clarification is required that the continued role 
of the participating municipalities is to provide input to that participating municipality's component of a 
CA’s budget, rather than their complete budgets which are approved by the CA General Membership 
(commonly referred to as the CA Board).  Thus, CAs are to provide the portions of their budgets for 
which municipal funding is being levied, or for programs for which memoranda of understanding with 
the municipal partners exist. This will ensure that the conversations continue to focus upon the items 
that are of mutual interest to the CAs and the municipal partners, without any confusion around any 
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expectation for municipal partners to review programs and services which may not be within their 
purview. Generally, it is supported that CA draft and final consolidated budgets (including all projected 
operating and capital costs and revenues) will be provided to participating municipalities as a contextual 
reference document. As well, it is supported that they be made available to the public by posting them 
on the CA’s website.  
 
The proposal for CAs to provide a summary of how the authority considered opportunities for self-
generated revenue has further raised concerns about the blurring of lines of budget control between 
the CA General Membership (i.e., commonly referred to as the CA Board) and the participating 
municipalities. Multiple concerns have been raised regarding the interpretation of the Guide that self-
generated revenue from Category 3 programs and services is intended to off-set municipal levy.  For 
clarity and to ensure local relevance/flexibility, the subject matter of the summary should not be so 
prescribed but should remain a high-level requirement for ‘a statement summarizing how the authority 
considered opportunities for self-generated revenue’.  
 
Conservation Ontario supports that Corporate Administrative Costs can be levied and are necessary to 
support an effectively functioning organization.  Additionally, Conservation Ontario supports the 
inclusion of Corporate Administrative Costs in the Municipal Levies Regulation and for them to be 
accounted for in a transparent, detailed, and stand-alone manner in the authority’s draft and approved 
consolidated budgets. It is recommended that the regulation allow for local flexibility in how to show 
corporate administrative costs by not being excessively prescriptive in the definition of corporate 
administrative costs.  
 

Part 2:  
PROPOSED MINISTER’S REGULATION FOR DETERMINING AMOUNTS  

OWED BY SPECIFIED MUNICIPALITIES 
 

CAs and their partner municipalities rely upon provincial funding for the Drinking Water Source 
Protection (DWSP) program under the Clean Water Act.  We are pleased to see that no change is 
anticipated to the provincial funding for the program.  It is essential that the province continue to fully 
fund the DWSP program as long as CAs are required to exercise and perform the powers and duties of a 
drinking water source protection authority; and implement programs and services related to those 
responsibilities. Municipalities do not have the capacity to absorb these program costs. 
 
Overall, the measures proposed are consistent with our expectations for how costs would be allocated 
for services provided by Source Protection Authorities, in fulfilling their responsibilities under the Clean 
Water Act. The proposed identification of specified municipalities, and the flexibility of choice of using 
three different apportionment methods (i.e., modified current property value assessment, agreement of 
the authority and municipalities, and, as decided by the authority) for determining costs to specified 
municipalities will provide greater clarity for recovering costs, should that be required. It is noted that 
carrying out this new process may take a considerable amount of time for negotiation and agreement 
on an apportionment method such that any changes to Provincial funding should provide adequate 
notice. 
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Part 3: 
 PROPOSAL FOR MINISTER’S PUBLISHED LIST OF CLASSES OF PROGRAMS AND SERVICES  

FOR WHICH A CONSERVATION AUTHORITY MAY CHARGE A FEE 
 

Conservation Ontario is supportive of the proposal to proclaim S. 21.2 in the Conservation Authorities 
Act (fees for programs and services) and the proposal for the Minister to publish a List of Classes of 
Programs and Services for which a CA may charge a fee (“List”). It is understood that this List will replace 
the set of discrete activities eligible for CA fees currently found with the Policies and Procedures for the 
Charging of Conservation Authorities Fees (1997) and instead will identify categories of programs and 
services that are eligible to be included in a fee schedule. A CA would be able to charge a fee for a 
program or service only if it is set out in the Minister’s list of classes. In general, Conservation Ontario 
agrees with the draft List that the Minister has provided (i.e., Table 2) and with the application of the 
user pay principle.  
 
Conservation Ontario also supports the efforts of the province to ensure that CAs administer fees in a 
transparent and accountable manner. This includes the requirement for a CA to adopt and publish a 
written fee policy and fee schedule that lists the programs and services for which it charges a fee and 
the accompanying amount. Conservation Ontario is prepared to assist its members as they transition to 
these new requirements.  
 
Through the creation and approval of individual CA fee policies, it is recommended that guidelines be 
developed regarding the types of fees that should be subject to reconsideration by its Members on an 
individual basis. Under the current fee regime, CAs are required to recover but not exceed the costs 
associated with administering the program, for certain mandatory programs and services such as their 
planning and permitting services. These types of activities may be more appropriate for reconsideration 
of fees than for example, category 3 programs and services delivered without a cost apportioning 
agreement. It is recommended that CAs, after consultation with the public, be empowered to identify 
the types of programs and services that would be subject to reconsideration of fees on an individual 
basis by its Members through its fee policy. This will support the transparency and accountability of 
operations, while allowing the Members to focus on the overall governance of the CA.  
 
It is noted at times that CAs may offer programs and services that would fall into multiple classes 
simultaneously. For example, CAs may offer mandatory programs (i.e., category 1) which may lead to 
opportunities for additional fee for service work to other stakeholders, including the provincial and 
federal agencies and third-party businesses (i.e., category 3). It is recommended that the List be clear 
that the fees for a program or service could be applicable across multiple classes of programs and 
services and not limited to one class. In addition, the List should clarify that in instances where 
mandatory programs lead to opportunities for additional ‘fee for service’ work, there is no requirement 
for a CA to receive approval from their participating municipalities for the delivery of the services to 
other stakeholders (i.e., category 3).   
 

Part 4: 
COMPLEMENTARY PROPOSALS TO INCREASE TRANSPARENCY OF AUTHORITY OPERATIONS 

 
In general, Conservation Ontario is supportive of the proposed Minister’s regulation to establish the 
requirement for a “Governance” section on CA websites.  As of September 23, 2021, all 36 CAs have 
endorsed a commitment to pursue governance, accountability, and transparency measures.  Since 
endorsement of the Governance, Accountability and Transparency Initiative, Conservation Ontario and 
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the 36 CAs have worked to ensure each CA has a section of their website dedicated to publicly accessible 
governance materials. While there are some differences in the proposed content and formatting of 
these website sections from the CO best practice, in general, CAs are well positioned to address the 
proposed regulatory requirements by the effective date of January 1, 2023. Conservation Ontario will 
note that our experience has revealed that there is varying available resources and capacity at CAs to 
make updates to CA websites / establish new website pages. The Ministry is encouraged to consider the 
varying local contexts, resources, and capacity of Ontario’s 36 CAs, and draft this regulation in such a 
way that all CAs are provided with sufficient time to address the regulatory requirements on an ongoing 
basis.  
 
While CAs are supportive of ensuring transparency of operations and providing a Governance section on 
their websites, additional clarification is requested on a couple of elements of this proposal.  One 
element is a request for clarification that personal phone numbers or emails of the Members of the CA 
are not meant to be shared on the proposed Governance webpage.  
 
The second element of concern is the requirement to post all MOUs and agreements between CAs and 
municipalities. The requirement to post all MOUs and agreements between CAs and municipalities 
would result in a governance webpage that is no longer meaningful or useful to the public. For simplicity 
of use, it is recommended that this requirement be aligned with the inventory of programs and services 
requirement to include the Category 2 MOUs or Agreements and Category 3 cost apportioning 
agreements (i.e., the agreements posted should be those that are identified in the inventory). 
Throughout 2022 and 2023 there will be ongoing CA and municipal consultation on the inventory and 
the associated agreements that both parties deem appropriate. As required, this consultation will be 
reported on in progress reports by CAs to the Minister and participating municipalities.  The Category 2 
MOUs or Agreements and Category 3 cost apportioning agreements included in the Inventory will need 
to be renegotiated/updated and posted to the CA website by January 1, 2024.   Better aligning this 
proposed regulation with the requirements outlined in O. Reg. 687/21 (Transition Plans and 
Agreements) would ensure consistency between what’s posted and what’s being negotiated and agreed 
upon between CAs and municipalities throughout the remainder of the Transition Period in 2023.  This 
would avoid the posting of hundreds of CA/municipal agreements with varying levels of detail and 
would ensure that this requirement to post is necessarily focused on those high-level MOUs and 
agreements that are governing the delivery of programs and services, and not every single agreement 
related to a program or service.   
 
Without the above recommended clarification, concern has been raised that posting all CA/Municipal 
agreements when amendments are made and providing notice would require significant resources and 
would result in large amounts of material on a CA website that would become difficult for the public to 
navigate.  
 
As well, it is questioned why an exception clause for the posting of Category 2 MOUs/agreements is 
necessary when Section 21.1.1(2) of the Conservation Authorities Act clearly lays out that each 
agreement will be shared with the public as it is determined in the MOU or agreement.  This enables the 
CA and municipality through the MOU or agreement to discuss whether procurement processes, 
commercially sensitive information or personal privacy information needs to be protected.  Posting of 
Category 2 MOUs or agreements should continue to be consistent with Section 21.1.1(2) of the 
Conservation Authorities Act. An exception clause in the regulation for posting Category 3 Cost 
apportioning agreements that relate to a procurement process or portions of agreements that contain 
commercially sensitive information is appreciated.  For clarity it’s recommended that reference be made 
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to protection of personal privacy information consistent with the Municipal Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act.  For example, cost apportioning agreements dealing with payment of a staff 
person could reveal the salary of an individual not otherwise available to the public. 
 
 
Conservation Ontario looks forward to working closely with the Province on regulatory and policy 
priorities as the Province proceeds with implementation of the Phase 2 Regulatory proposals, as well as 
implementation of Phase 1 regulations further to amendments to the Conservation Authorities Act. 
Should you have any questions about this letter, please contact me at extension 231.  
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
 
Kim Gavine 
General Manager 
 
c.c.  All CA CAOs/GMs 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conservation Ontario 
120 Bayview Parkway, Newmarket ON L3Y 3W3 

Tel: 905.895.0716   Email: info@conservationontario.ca 

www.conservationontario.ca 
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March 10, 2022 
 
Shannon Boland  
Divisional Compliance Branch 
135 St. Clair Avenue West, Floor 8 
Toronto, ON  M4V 1P5 
 
 
Re:  Conservation Ontario’s Comments on “Expanding administrative penalties for environmental 
 contraventions” (ERO# 019-4108)  
 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide comment on “Expanding administrative penalties for 
environmental contraventions”. Conservation Ontario (CO) is the network of Ontario’s 36 conservation 
authorities (CAs). CO appreciated the opportunity to participate in online consultations related to this 
proposal on February 15th. Comments shared through this consultation are not intended to limit 
comments received directly from CAs.  
 
It is understood that this consultation is further to legislative amendments that were made as part of 
omnibus legislation to enable administrative penalties to be issued for contraventions for the following 
acts: Environmental Protection Act, Nutrient Management Act, Ontario Water Resources Act, Pesticides 
Act and the Safe Drinking Water Act. An administrative penalty is a monetary penalty that can be 
imposed on individuals or corporations who do not comply with a law or a regulation. The current 
proposal is to create a regulation under each of these acts which would set out the contraventions for 
which an administrative penalty order may apply. In addition, the Ministry is proposing to update its 
compliance policy to incorporate the proposed administrative penalties. Conservation Ontario provided 
comments to MECP on their draft compliance policy in July, 2021.  
 
Conservation authorities are involved in compliance as it relates to S. 28 (development permitting) and 
S. 29 (conservation areas) of the Conservation Authorities Act and similarly focus their compliance 
efforts where the potential risk is highest. Being local, watershed-based agencies conservation 
authorities are often the first point of contact of the pubic for any environmental concerns. 
 
Conservation authorities are supportive of the proposal to introduce additional compliance tools for the 
management of environmental infractions. Money collected through these penalties would be directed 
to the Ontario Community Environment Fund and it is acknowledged that conservation authorities and 
their foundations are currently eligible recipients of grants from that fund. Conservation authorities 
frequently work with their municipal partners in the management of illegal filling operations. Proposed 
regulations made under the Environmental Protection Act to enable administrative penalties to address 
filling operations are particularly appreciated.  
 
Conservation authorities are supportive of efforts to hold offenders accountable in a cost-effective 
manner, with less burden on courts and taxpayers. As part of its modernization of compliance 
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approaches under MECP’s purview, Conservation Ontario respectfully requests that MECP consider 
additional opportunities to modernize compliance tools under the Conservation Authorities Act, 
including the ability to issue administrative penalties. In Conservation Ontario’s response to the Phase 1 
Regulatory proposals made under the Conservation Authorities Act in June, 2021 a recommendation was 
made to the province to establish a working group of enforcement staff from conservation authorities, 
municipalities and the province to examine CA compliance tools and to make recommendations for 
improvement, including better alignment between the tools available to municipalities and conservation 
authorities. This working group could also consider the expansion of administrative penalties for use by 
conservation authorities.  
 
 
Once again, thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on this proposal. Should you have any 
questions about this letter, please contact me at extension 226.  
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
Leslie Rich 
Policy and Planning Specialist  
 
 
c.c.  All CA CAOs/GMs  
 Jeff Hudebine, Director, Divisional Compliance Branch (MECP)  

Kirsten Corrigal, Director, Conservation and Source Protection (MECP) 
 Debbie Scanlon, Manager, Conservation Authority Office (MECP) 
 Jennifer Keyes, Director, Resources Planning and Development Policy Branch (NDMNRF) 
 John Dungavell, Manager, Water Resources Section (NDMNRF)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conservation Ontario 
120 Bayview Parkway, Newmarket ON L3Y 3W3 

Tel: 905.895.0716   Email: info@conservationontario.ca 

www.conservationontario.ca 
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AWARDED TO 

KRISTEN	WOZNIAK	
For successful completion of the “Primer on Planning” Course.  

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

                      Dated:   January 24, 2022                                         Christine Vigneault, President 
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